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[MEPINHWH: H mapouoa epyacia anotehel BiBAoypagi-
Kr) @vaoKkoTnon Kal okoTo €xel Ty TTapouciaoh Twy Vo-
ookopEelwv TTou 15pUBNKav kar dpxioav va Aerroupyoulv
otnv mpwtevouoa tng EMdadag, tyv Abrva, katd tn xpo-
vikrj iepiodo 1870-1920. MapatiBevral emiong evdiapé-
POVTA I0TOPIKA OTOIXEIQ yIa ToV TPATIO dpuang Kar Ael-
Toupyiag Twv ISpUPdTwy autwy Katd tnyv idia mepiodo.
Téhog, e&dyovtal kdmola oupepdopata oe OXEan HE To
IotopIkd TAalolo Kar T yevikdtepn katdotaon g on-
poolag uyelag TG mMpwTelouodg, Katd tnv umod e&gtaon
50etfa.

AEZEIZ KAEIAIA: lotopia tng latpikrg, EMEda, Abrva,
Anpdoia Yyeia, Nocokopefa, puxiatpeia.

SUMMARY: This study is a bibliographic review and aims
at presenting the hospitals that were founded and started
operating in the capital of Greece, Athens, during the pe-
riod 1870-1920. Interesting historical data on how these
institutions are set up and run during the same period
are also provided. Finally, some conclusions are drawn
regarding the historical context and the general state of
public health of the capital, over the 50-year period
under review.
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EIZAIQrH

O Beopdg Tou voookopgiou, Uapktdg 1dn amd tov 4o
aiva pX. katd ta Budavuivd xpodvia (Telea, 2012), katd
™ didpkeia g Emavdotaong tou 1821 eixe AdBel pia
TIPOCWPIVA Hop@r Kal dev amoTeAoUoe XWPO aMopOVW-
ong kai Bepaneiag. Apéows petd tnv ameheubépwon g
EMAbag, Eexivnoav ol Sigpyacieg yia v KAtaokeur] vo-
OOKOHEIWV KATAMNAWV Kar Ikavwy va @iAo&evrioouy Kai
va Beparedoouv Toug EMnveg moAfteg. 2komdg ng ep-
yaoiag efval n mapouciaon twv vocokopeiwv mou dpxi-
oav va Aerroupyolv otnv ABrjva tnv xpovikr Tiepiodo
1870-1920, kabwg kai n TapdBeon I0TOPIKWY OTOIXEIWV
yIa ToV TPATIo I5PUoNG Kal AsItoupyiag Toug.

To 1otopIkd TAdioio TG emoxr|g TepIAapBdvel eUTAOKT
O€ TIOAEPOUG e TTOMOUG TPAUPATiEG, TTPOOdPTNON VEWY
£dapwv, Jetavaoteloeig TANBUOHWY, CUCOWPEUOT TIPO-
o@Uywv, avdmuén tng actugiiag, ToATkY aotdBeiq,
TTWXEUOEIG TOU KOdTOoUG Kal T ooBapr| otagIdiky olko-
VOUIK] Kpion. ATTOTEAEOUATA TWV YEYOVOTWY QUTWV fTav
N eMKEATNON TNG PTWXEIAS, Ol Kakeg ouvBrikeg SiaBinong
TV TIONTWV, N Hn UMap&n Kah@v ouveOnkwv UYIEVAG
(Udpeuorn), amoxéteuon) kabwg kar maideiag uylevAg. H
Agrtoupyia eriong Tou ouatrpatog 6npdoiag uyeiag, mou
Sev Si€bete 1kavoUg OIKOVOUIKOUG TIOPOUG, ATAV QValpIkn,.
To mpwto «Ymoupyeio MepiBdAPewsy dnuioupyrBnke
HOANIG to 1917 kar pdhiota n Astoupyia Tou yia ta mpwtad
TIEVTE XPOVIa, HEXPI va PeTovopaotel oe Ymoupyeio Yyel-
ag, dev apopoloe GAOUG TOUG TIOATEG, AMA OUYKEKPI-
HEVEG opddeg MAnBuopoU dnwg Ta BUpata moAépou, Ta
opQavd, Toug PAOQUYEG KAl TIG OIKOYEVEIEG TWV ETTI-
otpdtwv (Maotpoyidwng 1960, AapdaBéong, 2008).

NOXOKOMEIA AINMO TO 1821
MEXPI TO 1870

Q¢ mpwto voookopeio TG eAelBepng EMAdag Bewpeita
10 dnpotikd voookopeio «Bapddkeiov kar INpwiov No-
cokopeiov 2Upou “ENTIG"», Tou dpxioce va Asitoupyel To
1825 kar ktiotnke pe xprjuata petd amd épavo petatu
TV eundpwv EMAVev Tooo@lywy kai T ouvtrjpnor] Tou
avéhaBe o drjpog péxpr to 1885. Metd to 1885, n ouv-
Tenon yivétav and v ek diabrikng xpnuatikr] dwped
ToU euepyetn 2tapatiou Mpwiou (AeiBaddpag, 2012).
To mpwto voookopeio ou kataokeudotnke otnv ABrjva
petd v Emavdotaon tou 1821, ritav to 2tpatwtikd vo-
ookopeio, Tou 16pUbnke to 1836 (BAadipnpog, 1997).
Méxpl to 1870, otnv ABrva, extdg amd 1o 2Teatiwtkd
voookopeio, utpxav emiong ta &g voookopeia:
|. To dnpotikd voookoeio «EATIG, Tou ftav to mpwto
dnpodaoio MoAtikd voookopeio otnv ABrjva kai dpxioe
va hertoupyei To 1842,
2. To «Maieutrjpio» Tou dpxice Tn Asrtoupyia Tou to
1835.
3. To «Noookopeio OpBalpidviwvy, TTou Bepeinbnke
t0 1847, aMd n emionpn Aertoupyia tou dpxioe 1o
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INTRODUCTION

The institution of hospitals, existing already from the 4th
century AD. in the Byzantine years (Telea, 2012), during
the revolution of 1821 had taken a temporary form and
was not an area of isolation and healing. Immediately
after the liberation of Greece, the processes for the con-
struction of hospitals suitable and capable of accommo-
dating and curing Greek citizens began. The aim of this
study is to present the hospitals that started operating
in Athens during the period 1870-1920, as well as to
present historical data on the way of their establishment
and operation.

The historical context of the period under examination
includes engaging in wars with many war injuries, new
lands annexation, population migrations, refugees’ accu-
mulation, augmentation of urbanism, political instability,
state bankruptcies and the serious economic “raisin cri-
sis”. The consequences of these events were the preva-
lence of poverty, the poor living conditions of citizens,
the lack of good hygiene conditions (poor quality and
lack of water purification, lack of sewerage systems) and
hygiene culture. The functioning of the public health sys-
tem, which lacked sufficient financial resources, was ane-
mic. The first “Ministry of Welfare" was created only in
1917, and its operation for the first five years, until it
was renamed Ministry of Health, did not concern all cit-
izens but specific population groups such as war victims,
orphans, refugees and the families of the soldiers (Mas-
troyiannis, 1960, Dardavessis, 2008).

HOSPITALS FROM 1821
TO 1870

The first hospital of free Greece is considered to be the
municipal hospital «Vardakion and Proion Hospital of
Syros “Elpis”», which started operating in 1825, and was
built with money after a fundraiser among the rich
Greek refugees, and its maintenance was undertaken by
the municipality of Syros until 1885. After 1885, the
maintenance was carried out through the donation by

the benefactor Stamatios Proios (Leivadaras, 2012).

The first hospital that was constructed in Athens since

the Revolution of 1821 was the Military Hospital,

founded in 1836 (Vladimiros, 1997). Until 1870, in

Athens, besides the Military Hospital, there were also

the following hospitals:

I. The municipal hospital “Elpis”, which was the first
public political hospital in Athens and started operat-
ing in 1842.

2. The "Maternity Hospital”, which started its operation
in 1835.

3. The “Eye Hospital”, which was founded in 1847, but
its official operation began in 1854. Later it was re-

Apxeia EMnvikrg Ztopatikrig & NvaBompoowrikrig Xeipoupyikrig/
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Eik. I: To «TCéveio»
Noookopeio tov |90
aiva. Mnyr: ELNLATTL
Ta dnpdoia voookopeia
otnv Afrjva Kkai Tov
Meipaid. Mopeia oto

xpovo. Ekddoeig ELN.ATT,

2005.

Fig. I: "Tzanio” Hospital
at the [9th century.
Source: EIN.AP. The
public hospitals of Athens
and Piraeus. A course in
time. Pub. EI.N.AP,, 2005.
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1854. Apydtepa petovopdotnke oe «O@Baipiatpeio
ABNVOV.

4. H «Aaturkhivikri», Tiou 16pUBnke pe didtaypa tou 1856
Kal dpxioe ™ Aertoupyia tng to 1857, pe okomd v
avuigetwmon acBeviv anodedelypéva QTwxwy, Tou
Sev umopoloav va voonAeutolv o€ TTOATIKG VOOOKO-
peia Adyw EMePng Béoewv. 2komdg emiong tng Idpu-
oNG ™S ASTUKAIVIKAG ATaV n KATamoAéunaon tng Iatpl-
KNG «ayUPTEIQG» Kal n ekTaideuon Twv KAtoikwy g
ABAvag, Wote va pn katagelyouv oe epmelpIkous 1a-
tpoU¢ (Kopaoidou, 2002).

NOZOKOMEIA AINO TO 1870
MEXPI TO 1920

Aexarévte voookopeia 1I5pubnkav atnv eupUtepn Tepio-
xr) TG ABrivag (14 otnv ABriva kar | otov Neipaid), katd
v 50¢etia 1870-1920 (MMiv. 1). Ta mepioodtepa and autd
OuvexiCouv tn Aertoupyia Toug akdpa kai orjpepa. Tavo-
ookopEia xwpiovtav o TévTe Pacikég katnyoples: |) ta
dnpdoia 2) ta dnuotikd 3) ta 1diwtikoy dikaiou dnpdoiag
woeleiag 4) ta mavemotnuiakd kai 5) Ta 1diwtikd. 2T ou-
véxela, 6a avapepBolv oplopéva IoTopIKG OTOIXEla oxe-
TKG e TV Bpuor] Toug, kKabwg kai pe T dpaotnpidtntd
TOUG KUPIwG Katd tnv egetaldpevn S0etia.

Noookopeio Meipaid «T¢dveion

To voookopeio 16pUBnKe to 1866 pe dwped Tou eumd-
pou Nikrjta TZavvn rj TZavve, dnudtn MNMeipaid pe kata-
ywyr amd ta Kubnpa. H Aertoupyia tou dpxioe to 1873
G «Adehpdto» (Eik. 1). 2komdg Tou 16pUpatog Atav n
dwpedv mapoxr| mepiBalng otoug dnudteg MNeipaid kai
Kupiwg n voonAeia Twv anmdpwv acBevwv. To vocoko-
peio Ba avarrtuxOel 1diaftepa petd to 1927 (EINATT,
2005).

Noookopeio «Euayyehiopogy

H idpuon tou Noookopeiou Euayyehiopdg urnmp&e aro-
TéAeOUA TV TTPOOTIABEINV ToU «2UMOYou Kupldv utép
luvaikeiag Maideloewy, TTou Atav mpwtoPfouAia 62 yu-
vaikav. To 1872, pe ) ouvdpopr) g Baoihiooag ‘OM
yag, eykpiBnke Baoihikd Aidtayua, ou emétpene tn) oU-
0Taon Tou 2UMGyou Kal Tébnke umd Ty mpooTacia tng
id1ac g Baoihooag. Or okorol tou ev Adyw 2uMdyou
ATav apiyws IAavBpwTikol, KoIvVw@eelc, KaBwg kai n
HOPOWON TwV adeAQwV VOoOKOPwY. Me evépyeleg Tou
>UMOyou, o 1875 15pUbnKe o «Noookopikdv [aideu-
Tr)PIOV, TIOU TIPOCEPEPE TOUAGXIOTOV TETPAUNVN eKTTai-
deuon twv adehpwyv voookdpwy. H oxolr eykataotd-
Bnke oto KTrjpIo Tou 2UMOYOU Tl TG Aewpdpou Aua-
Nag. Z0vtopa, diamotwbnke n avdykn Spuong evog vo-
OOKOEIOU, OTOUG XWPEOUC Tou oroiou Ba prmopouoe va
yivel kaAUtepn n exmaideuon twv adeApwv VOooKSHWY,
aM\d Kal euxepéatepn 1 evolaitnor] Toug. Tov emdpevo
xpovo 1876, and v Bacihicoa OAya cuykporteftar Em-
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named to “Athens Eye Hospital”.

4. The “Astyclinic”, established by a decree of 1856 and
commenced its operation in 1857, with the aim of
treating poor people who could not be hospitalized
in political hospitals, due to lack of money. The aim
of the establishment of the Astyclinic was also to con-
front the medical “charlatanism” and to educate the
inhabitants of Athens, so that they would not resort
to empirical doctors (Korasidou, 2002).

HOSPITALS FROM 1870
TO 1920

Fifteen hospitals were founded in the wider area of
Athens (14 in Athens and | in Piraeus), during the 50
years 1870-1920 (Table 1). Most of them continue to
function even today. Hospitals were divided into five
main categories: |) public 2) municipal 3) under private
law but for public service 4) university and 5) private.
Thenceforward, historical data about their foundation
and activity especially during the 50-year period studied,
will be reported.

Hospital of Piraeus “Tzaneio”

The hospital was founded in 1866 with the donation of
merchant Nikitas Tzannis or Tzanne, a citizen of Piraeus
from the island of Kythera. Its operation began in 1873
as "“Brotherhood” (Fig. I). The aim of the foundation
was the provision of care to the citizens of Piraeus and
especially the hospitalization of the poor patients. The
hospital has been particularly developed after 1927
(ELN.AP, 2005).

“Evangelismos” Hospital

The foundation of Evangelismos Hospital was the result
of the efforts of the “Association of Ladies for Women's
Education”, which was the initiative of 62 women. In
1872, with the assistance of Queen Olga, a Royal De-
cree was adopted, which permitted the formation of the
Association that was placed under the protection of the
Queen herself. The aims of this Association were purely
philanthropic, charitable, as well as the training of sister
nurses. With the actions of the Association, in 1875 a
“Nursing School” was established, which offered at least
four months of training for nurses. The school was in-
stalled in the building of the Association on Amalias Av-
enue. Soon, there was a need to establish a hospital in
which the nurses could be better educated and also eas-
ier accommodated. In the following year 1876, a Com-
mission was formed by Queen Olga to raise funds for
the construction of a hospital center. The Commission,
under the presidency of the Archbishop of Athens
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Mivakag 1: Ta voookope(a Tou 1dpUONKav oty eupUtepn Teploxr) g MNpwtedouoag Ty Tepiodo 1870-1920.

‘Ovopa Nogokopeiou

Noookopeio Melpald «TCavelo»
Noookopelo «EuayyeAoudg»
Wuxiarpikd Noookopelo «ApopoKaiTelo»
Aculo Avidtwv

Noookopelo «Apetalelo»
Noookopelo Madwv «Ayia Zopia»

Adikd oavatdplo «Xwtnpia»

Noookopelo Aolpwdwy voowv «H Ayia BapRdpa»
KAwikr| «<Evidoewe EMInvidwv»

Oeparmeutr)plo «MOAUKAIVIKI»
Noookopeio — Wuxlatpikn KAk «Atyivritelo»

Noookopelo appodolwy voonudtwy «Avdpgag Xuyypog»

>avaréplo MNdpvndag 1 «<Nocokopelo M. Ztadpou kat I, Pouyk»

Noookopelo «H Ayia EAgvn»

Noookopeio «AokAnrielo BouAag»

TPOTI HE OKOTIO T CUYKEVIPWON TOPWV yid TNV avé-
YePON voookopelakou kévipou. H Emtpord umd tnv
Mpoedpia tou Mntporohitn ABnvav MNpokdmiou, eixe
WG PEAN TNG Toug empaveic M. Peviépn, A MeAg, A. Oe-
o@IAd kar I, Makkd. H lepd Mov) Acwpdtwv [Netpdrn
SdwpiCer To oxetkd oikdmedo to 1880, mpoopépoviag
pia ouvolikr éktaon 39.185,36 mrixewv otadiakd péxpl
1o 1890, éktaon mou akpIBWG upiotatal kai ofjpepa. To
1881, ue Baoikikd Aidtayua, eykpivetal n idpuon Ogpa-
Tieutnpiou pe TNV ovopacia «EuayyeNopdcy, wg giAav-
BpwmkoU 15pUpatog. 2tig 25 Maptiou 1881, o Baoihidg
ledpyiog o A’ Bétel 1o BepéNio AiBo Tou voookopeiou
«Euayyehiopde». To Bepameutripio Ktiotnke oUpQwva
pe Ta dutikoeupwdikd mpdtura, Si€bete ovotnua Bép-
pavong kai agpiopoy, KaBWG Kal avEAKUOTAPEG. 2TG 25
Maptiou 1884, n Emtporry mapadider tn dioiknon o€
Epopia Kupiwy, and tnv omola cuykpoteital To mpwto
Aloikntikd Tou 2upPouNo, amoteholpevo amod yuvaikeg,
umtd v mpoedpia g lpiyéveiag A. 2uyypou. To vooo-
Kopelo eykavidotnke Kal dEXIOE TV emionun Asitoupyia
Tou otg |6 AnpiNiou 1884 (Eik. 2).

To 1885, dnpooieltnke otnv Eenuepida g Kupepvi-
OEWG O TIPWTOG OPYAVIOHAG ToU VOooKo[elou. APXIKA
urpxav duo Khvikég, n MabBoroyikr kar n Xeipoupyikr,
dwpdua anopdvwong kar dSwpdta mpaTng, SeUTEPAg Kal
Tpfting Béoewg, kKaBwG kal xwpol yia ) diapovr Twv
adehpwv voookdpwy. Apxikd (1884), to voookopeio

i

—

1

—
bk

|

Eik. 2: To Noookopeio «Euayyehopdey (1884). Mnyry: ELNLATL Ta
dnpdoia voookopeia oty ABrva kar tov Meipaid. MNopeia oto
xpdvo. Exddoeiq ELN.ATT, 2005.

Fig. 2: Hospital “Evangelismos” (1884). Source: ELN.AP. The public
hospitals of Athens and Piraeus. A course in time. Pub. ELNLAP,
2005.

Prokopios, had as its members the prominent M. Re-
nieris, L. Melas, A. Theophila and G. Makkas. The
Monastery of Assomaton Petraki donated the relevant
plot in 1880, offering a total area of 39,185.36 acres
gradually until 1890, an area that still exists today. In
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Katnyopia ‘ETog ‘I3puong
[diwTikoU Alkaiou 1866
Anuootag Qeeleiag
IBlwTikoU Alkalou 1881
Anudolag Qpelelag
[BiwTikoU Alkaiou 1882
Anuootag Qeeleiag
[diwTikou Alkaiou 1891
Anudolag Qpeleiag
Maveromuiakd 1894
IBlwTikoU Alkatou 1896
Anudéolag Qpelelag
[BiwTikoU Alkaiou 1902
Anuootag Qeeleiag
Anuooto 1903
[DiwTikoU Alkaiou 1903
Anuootag Qeeleiag
IBlwTikoU Alkatou 1903
Maveromuaxko 1904
IBlwTikoU Alkatou 1909
Anudolag Qpelelag
[BiwTikoU Alkalou 1912
Anuootag Qeeleiag
[DiwTikou Alkaiou 1916
Anudolag Qeeleiag
[diwTikoU Alkaiou 1920
Anudéolag Qpelelag

‘ETog Aerroupyiag
1873

1884

1887

1891

1898
1900

19056

1903
1903

1905
1905
1910

1914

1916

1920
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Table 1: Hospitals founded in Athens during the period 1870-1920.

Hospital’s Name

Hospital of Piraeus “Tzaneio”
“Evangelismos” Hospital
Psychiatric Hospital “Dromokaitio”
Asylum for the Incurable

“Aretaieio” Hospital
Childrens’ Hospital “Saint Sophia”

“Sotiria” Hospital

“Saint Varvara” Hospital
Clinic of the “Union of Greek women’

Hospital “Polyclinic”
“Aeginitio” Hospital
“Andreas Syngros” Hospital
Sanatorium of Parnitha

“Saint Eleni” Hospital

“Asklepion Voulas” Hospital

Category
Under Private Law
but for Public Service

Under Private Law
but for Public Service

Under Private Law
but for Public Service

Under Private Law
but for Public Service
University Hospital
Under Private Law
but for Public Service

Under Private Law
but for Public Service

Public Hospital

Under Private Law
but for Public Service

Private Hospital
University Hospital
Under Private Law

but for Public Service
Under Private Law
but for Public Service
Under Private Law
but for Public Service
Under Private Law
but for Public Service

Year of Foundation Year of Operation
1866 1873
1881 1884
1882 1887
1891 1891
1894 1898
1896 1900
1902 1905
1903 1903
1903 1903
1903 1905
1904 1905
1909 1910
1912 1914
1916 1916
1920 1920

Si€Bete 48 Khiveg, Tou oUvtopa €yivav 100. To 1896, n
duvapr) Tou avepxdtav oe Tepimou 150 Kkhiveg, eve to
1920 mepi ug 300 kAiveg. To 1888, kataokeudotnke to
Tpwto xelpoupyeio evey to 1897 Bepeibnke o ofkog
adeApWV VOOOKSHWY, TIOU TIERATWONKE éva xpdvo ap-
yotepa, To 1898, pe dwped tou A. 2uyypou. To €tog
1897 emfong o Euayyehiopdg 6€xBnke Toug tpaupatieg
Tou EMnvotoupkikoU TToAépou kal mapdMnAa dpxioav
va Aertoupyouv Epyactipia Avallicewv Kal AKTIVOAOYI-
k) Movdda. To 1903 apxiCouv va Aertoupyouv ta mpwta
eEwtepIkd Iatpeia kar oug 25 Maptiou 1912, Bepehid-
Bnke o vadg tou Ogparneutnpiou, Tou anoddnke otov
Euayyehiopd tng @eotdkou. Omnwg kai katd tn didpkeia
Tou EMnvotoupkikoU moAépou tou 1897, €tar kai katd
T Sidpkeia Twv Balkavikav moAépwy, o Euayyehiopdg
voonheuoe peydho apiBpd tpaupatwy. Katd tov mpwto
XpoOvo Aeitoupyiag tou, to 1884, oto voookopeio eiorix-
Bnoav 258 aoBeveic, To 1900, 1.265 aobeveic, to 1910,
2316 aoBeveic kai to 1920, 4421 acbeveic (Meydhn EA-
Anvikr| Eykuihortaidera IMupodg, 1927, Kopaoidou, 2002,
EINATIT, 2005, Avwyidtng-Pele kar ouv. 2012).

Wuxiatpikéd Noookopeio «Apouokaiteion

O Tewpyiog f Zwplic Apopokaitng (1805-1880), big-
Beoe ev Cwrj, aMd kar pe tn d1abrikn tou, 500.000 xpuod
yaMikd @pdyka «dia thv oUotacv @pevokoueiouy. To
oikémedo enf tng lepdg 0dou otnv meploxr] Aapvi Atu-
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1881, a Royal Decree approved the establishment of a
“Evangelismos” Hospital, as a charity institution. On
March 25, 1881, King George A" sets the foundation
stone of Evangelismos Hospital. The institution was built
according to Western European standards, it had a heat-
ing and ventilation system, as well as lifts. On March 25,
1884, the Commission handed over the administration
to a Ladies Cabinet, which formed its first Board, con-
sisting of women, chaired by Iphigenia A. Syngrou. The
hospital was inaugurated and began its official operation
on April 16, 1884 (Fig. 2). In 1885, the first institution of
the hospital was published in the Government Gazette.
Initially there were two clinics, Pathology (Internal Med-
icine) and Surgery, isolation rooms, and first, second and
third place rooms, as well as rooms for the stay of
nurses. Initially (1884), the hospital had 48 beds, which
soon became 100. In 1896, its capacity was about 150
beds, while in 1920 about 300 beds. In 1888, the first
operating theater was built, and in 1897 the house of
nurses was founded, which was completed one year
later, in 1898, with the donation of A. Syngros. In 1897,
Evangelismos hospitalized the injured of the Greek-
Turkish war, and Laboratories of Analysis and a Radiol-
ogy Unit started operating. In 1903 the first outpatient
clinics began to operate and on March 25, 1912, a
church was founded, which was attributed to "“Evange-
lismos (Annunciation) of Theotokos”. As during the



30

PdAAn I. kai auv./Ralli I. et al.

Krg, O1eTédn amd v kuBépvnon. H Exteheotikr) Emtpo-
T Tou KANpodoTuatog, anoteAeito and toug Mdpko
Peviépn, Xapihao Eppavounh kar lwdvwn Xwpéun, Teig
ONMHAVIIKEG TIPOOWTTIKGTNTEG TNG EMOXNG KAl GIAOUG TOU
Apopokaitn. ‘Etar v I OktwpPpiou 1887 to voooko-
peio pe to dvopa «Ppevokopeio Zwpln kar Tapoig
Apopokditou» dpxioe ) Aertoupyia tou (Eik. 3). Apxi-
kg S1€Bete |10 kAiveg. Ta emdpeva xpdvia kal Péxpl To
1893, véa ktripia aveyépbnkav petd amd mpoopopPES
1IS1WTWV eUEPYETWV OTwG o K. Zefaotdmourog, o A. Zuy-
YOG, o I'. ©@eohdyog, n B. Zkuhiton, n E. Bevidéhou, o
X. Zrmhidmourog k.d. To idpupa, yia dUo touhdxiotov
Seraetieg €maige to pdro mpdtutiou Yuxiatpeiou (Ko-
pacidou, 2002, EINA, 2005).

Aculo Avidtwv

To 1882 16pUbnke otnv ABrjva «Adehpdtne» e TNV
enwvupia «Kahr Mpoaipeoigy and 20 yuvaikeg pe mpod-
edpo tn Natahia ZoUtoou. Zkomdg Tou frav «n Tepi-
Balyig duotuxwyv acBevay, andpwv acbevwy, ol orofol
dev eixav ta péoa Oxi pévo va Bepameubolv, aM' olte
kal va {rjoouv amwey. To 1891, o owpateio yia toug
okotoUg tou, voikiaoe éva pikpd omit ota [latfoiq,
OTT0U Kal oUVEDTNOE €10IKG VOOOKOWEID TO «Acuho Avid-
Twv». Aé to 1891 péxpr to 1900, oto voookopeio vo-
onheutnkav 84 aobeveig, and toug omoioug 33 eERABav
uyieic (Kopaoidou, 2002).

Apetaieio

O Bepéhiog AiBog t€bnKe to 1894, evd ta emionua ey-
kaivia Tou voookopeiou éyivav otig |6 Auyouotou |898.
Ta xpripata yia v avéyepon, mponABav Kuping amd
TNV Meplouoia Tou KatéAme pe S1abrjkn tou, o and to
1870 takuikdg kabnyntrg g Xelpoupyikig, TTou OIETE-
Aeoe emiong kooprjtopag tng latpikig 2xoArg (1873-
1874), kabwg kar MNputavne tou MNavemotnpiou ABnvav
(1879-1880), @eddwpog Apetaiog (1829-1893). H ma-
paxwpnon tou oikotédou, €yive amd t Movr MNetpdkn.
To 1898, AertoUpynoe oto voookopeio Xelpoupyikr K-
viKr}, evw to 1906 dnpioupyriBnie B Xeipoupyikr kabwg
kai Fuvaikohoyik Khvikry. To 1924, oto voookopeio, dp-
XIO€ yIa TIPWIN popd va epappdletar oty EMAda, aku-
voBepareia pe padievepyd pddio. To VOOOKopED TTe-
pIEBahPe TARBOG Tpaupatiwy Tty mepiodo 1912-1922,
TIPOOPEPOVIAG ONHAVTIKEG UTINPEDIEG OTOV EMNVIKSO Aad
(Kopaoidou, 2002, EINATT, 2005).

Noookopeio maidwv «H Ayia Xopiay

H mpwtoBouhia yia tn dnpioupyia tou avrike oty Mply-
kimooa >oeia, Tv omoia mepiéfaav pia opdda yuvar-
KoV, KaBWG Kar ol euepyEteg Avopeag Zuyypog kai Ma-
pivog Kopyiahéviog. O1 IPWTEG XPNPATIKEG EIOPOPES
TIpoéxovtal and Toug BAciAel( kal eUTToPOoUG AoTouGg ev-
1d¢ Karl ektdg EMdEdag. Metd v mapaxwopnon tou ol-
komédou amd tn Movr INetpdkn to 1896, éyive n teAetr

Eik. 3: «Apopoxditeion» Wuxiatpeio (1901). Mnyr: ELNLATT

Ta dnudoia voookopeia oty ABrjva kar tov MNeipaid. Mopeia

oto xpovo. Ekddoeig ELN.ATT, 2005.

Fig. 3: "Dromokaitio” Psychiatric Hospital (1901). Source: EL.N.AP.
The public hospitals of Athens and Piraeus. A course in time. Pub.
EIN.AP., 2005.

Greek-Turkish war of 1897, during the Balkan wars,
Evangelismos hospital hospitalized also a large number
of injured people. During the first year of operation, in
1884, 258 patients were admitted to the hospital, in
1900, 1,265 patients, in 1910, 2,316 patients, and in
1920, 4,421 patients (Great Hellenic Encyclopedia Pyr-
sos, 1927, Korasidou, 2002, EI.N.A.P., 2005, Anogiatis -
Pele et al,, 2012).

Psychiatric Hospital “Dromokaitio”

Georgios or Zorzis Dromokaitis (1805-1880), offered
as long as he lived, but also with his will, 500,000 gold
francs “for the foundation of a mental institution”. The
plot of land in the area of Dafni, Attica, was given by the
government. The Executive Committee of the legacy
consisted of Markos Renieris, Charilaos Emmanuil and
loannis Choremis, three important personalities of the
time and friends of Dromokaitis. Thus, on October I,
1887, the hospital named “Zorzis and Tarsi
Dromokaitis” began its operation (Fig. 3). Initially it had
I'10 beds. In the following years and until 1893, new
buildings were constructed after offers of private bene-
factors such as K. Sevastopoulos, A. Syngros, P. Theolo-
gos, V. Skylitsi, E. Venizelos, C. Spiliopoulos and others.
The institution, for at least two decades, played the role
of a model psychiatric institution (Korasidou, 2002,
ELN.A.P., 2005).

Asylum for the Incurable

In 1882, in Athens, a "Brotherhood was founded with
the name “Good Intention” by 20 women, with Natalia
Soutsos as president. Its purpose was to “treat unfortu-
nate patients, needy patients, who had not the means
not only to be cured, but even to live". In 1891, the
Committee has rented, for its purposes, a small house
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Bepehivwong tou voookopeiou. To 1897, dpxioe va Ael-
Toupyel digtolq goftnong 2xohj Adehpwv. H évapén
Aertoupyiag tou voookopeiou €yive otig 22 Maptiou
1900 pe 1&iaitepn Aapmpdtnta. Apxikd di€Bete |6 khived.
Tov mpwto xpdvo Aertoupyiag tou voonheltnkav | 16
naidid, tov deltepo 143, 1o 1904, 174 kaito 1907, 185.
To 1912 1o voookopeio emtdooetal kai TepIBAATel
Tpaupatieg Tou Baikavikou ToAépou, eviy to 1914 ol yia-
1Ol ToU VOOOKOWEIOU CUHHETEXOUV OTNV KAt ofkov Vo-
onheia twv Makeddvwv mpoogiywv (Kopasidou, 2002,
EINATMT, 2005).

Noocokopeio «Zwtnpia»

H ouCuyog tou Eppikou ZAquav, >ogia, avémue petd
10 Bdvatd tov, o 1890, onpavuiky @ixavBpwikr| dpdan.
>1g apxég tou 200U aikva n eupatiwon pdotle Ty Kol-
vwvia, 181aftepa Toug Katoikoug Twv HeydAwv TTOAEwY,
evw €101k VOOOKOEIQ KAl OI AMAtOUHEVES VOONAEUTIKEG
Khiveg éeimav. O1 ouvBrikeg voonheiag ftav dOAieg kal
eKTOG Twv dMwV n pupatiwon arnoteAoloe pia voco n
orola otypdule KoVwVIKA Tov aoBevr, TTou TTOMEC @o-
PEC eykatalemotav mavieAwg aforbnrog. Mapd g
TIPOOTIABEIEG KAl TIG EKKANOEIG TWV EMOTNHOVWY TNG £T10-
XAG, TO eEMnVIKO kpdtog dev kivntomolBnke yia v
idpuon oavatopiwy, dmwg autd Tou Adn urrpxav os A\
AeG eupwTdikég xwPe. O 181wTIKOG TOPEAG OpWG, dPXI-
O€ VA OUPPETEXEN evepyd OTo BE€Pa NG QVTIETWTIONG
NG QUPATILONG. 2NPAavTKr) WBNoN TTEOC TV eMAUCN TOU
mpoPAuatog mporjABe amd to o MNMaveMrvio latpikd
2uvédplo, Tou éAaPe xwpa otnv Abrjva To Mdio tou
1901. Metd amd didgopeg eionyAoelg IaTpwy TePl TG
peydAng éktaocng tnv ormoia eixe AdBel n véoog, To ou-
vedplo amogdoios opdewva va dnuioupynBel «laveh-
Mviog 2Uvdeopog katd tng Pupatinoews». H Zoeia
> Njpav, yetd anéd pia emiokeyr] g oto voookopeio EA-
Tic, émou voonAeuovtav umd avti§oeg ouVBrKeG Kal gu-
paukoi, diamiotwoe Ty avdykn dnuioupyiag oavatopiou.
‘Edpace aotpamaia. To Mdio tou 1902 énpiolpynoe
«Opiho Kupivy, Tou idpuoe Etaipeia pe tv emwvupia
«>wtnpia». 2Tig 28 Mafou 1902 pe BaoAikd Aidtaypa
(B.A) eykpiBnke to Kataotatkd NG Etaipeiag pe titho
«Oepameutipio n 2wtneiay. Metd and €peguveg, o Kka-
TAMNAOG XWPOG yia va aveyepBei to oavatdpio, Ppedn-
ke otnv Tepioxr] Tou [oudr. To oikdémedo mAnpouoe
TOUG OUyXPOoVoUG Yid Tnv emoxr} dpoug dnuioupyiag oa-
vatopiou, apou rAtav mpouAaypévo amd toug fOpeioug
Kal avatoAikoUG avépoug, ftav ektebelpévo otov Ao
yia 600 1o duvatd mepioadtepo Xpdvo, Bpiokdtav ektdq
NG MOANG Twv ABnvav aAd Oxi pakpid am' autry, ftav
pakpld and okoveg, kamvoug, OpiXAN, €An KATT. Kal eTmiong
rtav kovtd og 8doog, OxiI TOAU TTUkvG ald Thouolo og
Kwvopopa dévrpa. To oikdmedo mapaxwpriBnke amo
Movr| Metpdrn. 2tg 7 NoepPpiou 1902 exddOnke BA.
TTou eTETETTE TNV 1dpucn «POiciatpeiou» e dardvn g
Etaipeiag. O BepéNog AiBog tébnke to 1903, mapouaia
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in Patissia, where he set up a special hospital called “Asy-
lum for the Incurable”. From 1891 to 1900, 84 patients
were hospitalized, 33 of whom were discharged health-
ful (Korasidou, 2002).

“Aretaieio” Hospital

The foundation stone was laid in 1894, while the official
inauguration of the hospital was made on August 16,
1898. The money for the construction came mainly
from the property that was donated by his will, of the
Professor of Surgery from 1870, who also served as a
Dean of the School of Medicine (1873-1874), and Rec-
tor of the University of Athens (1879-1880), Theodore
Aretaios (1829-1893). The concession of the plot was
made by the Petraki Monastery. In 1898, a Surgery Clinic
started to operate in the hospital, and in 1906 a second
Surgery Clinic and a Gynecology Clinic were established.
In 1924, in the hospital, a radioactive radiation has for
the first time started to be applied in Greece. The hos-
pital treated a large number of war injured in the period
1912-1922, offering important services to the Greek
people (Korasidou, 2002, ELN.A.P., 2005).

Childrens’ Hospital “Saint Sophia”

The initiative for its creation belonged to Princess Sofia,
who was surrounded by a group of women, as well as
the benefactors Andreas Syngros and Marinos Korgiale-
nios. The first financial contributions came from the kings
and wealthy bourgeois living inside or outside Greece.
After the concession of the land from the Petraki
Monastery in 1896, the foundation ceremony of the
hospital took place. In 1897, a two-year training School
of Nurses started working. The hospital started its op-
eration on March 22, 1900 with great magnificence. Ini-
tially it had |6 beds. In the first year of its operation, | 16
children were hospitalized, the second 143, in 1904, 174
and in 1907, 185.In 1912 the hospital was charged with
the admission of the wounded in the Balkan war, while
in 1914 the hospital doctors participated in the home
hospitalization of the Macedonians refugees (Korasidou,
2002, ELNLA.P, 2005).

Hospital “Sotiria”

The wife of Heinrich Schliemann, Sophia, after his death,
in 1890, developed an important charitable action. At
the beginning of the 20th century, tuberculosis was pes-
tering society, especially the inhabitants of major cities,
while special hospitals and the required hospital beds
were missing. The conditions of hospitalization were
miserable and, among other things, tuberculosis was a
disease that socially stamped the patient, who was often
abandoned and completely helpless. Despite the efforts
and appeals of the scientists of the time, the Greek State
was not activated for the establishment of sanatoria,
such as those already existing in other European coun-
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NG Baoihooag ‘OAyag. Ta eykaivia tou mpwtou Tepi-
TITEPOU TOU VOOOKOWEIOU, TTOU KATAoKeudoTnKe pe €€o-
ba g 2opiag ZAuav, €yivav to 1905, ondte dpxioe
Kkai n Asrtoupyia Tou voookopeiou Tiou d1€Bete 40 kAiveg
(Eix. 4). Ané 1o 1905 péxpl to 1915 kataokeudotnkav
pe €€oda twv 1IdIwTwv akdua €81 TepimMepa Kal To Ktrjplo
Twv dloIKNTKWY utnpeoiav 1 «Aigubuvtripio». Ta Tepi-
Ttepa ameubivovtav oe SIdPopeg EI000NUATIKEG TAEEIC.
To 1915, 1o voookopeio evioxietal pe dUo khnpodotr-
pata kai n Movn lNetpdkn mapaxwpel véa éktaon 215
OTPEPPATWY, PE avTdAaypa TEVTE KAIVEG yia T voonAeia
andpwv acBevav. To 1918, 0 apiBudg twv kKhivay avih-
Be otig 250. O apiBpds twv voonieubéviwy aoBevawv to
1905, Atav 162, evw to 1918, 604 acBeveic. H Bvnoiuo-
nTa Spwe kupavétay mepl to 50% A kai mapandve. Bé-
Baia ol mepicodtepol aobevel MPooEpeuyav oTo oava-
TOpI0, dtav Ppiokoviav TAEoV OE TIPOXWPNHEVO 1| OTO
TeNkd otddio tng véoou. To 1919, n diofknon tou vo-
OOKOWEIOU TIEPIEPXETAl OTO KPGTOG, TO OTT0i0 OWG OU-
peteixe AdN otn xpnuatodotnon tou 1ISpUPatog He ta-
Kty etjoia evioxuon (Katrg, 1984, BAadiunpog kai
dpaykidng, 2002, EINATT, 2005).

Noookopeio «H Ayia BapBdpa»

To voookopeio autd g Autikiig ATtkrig 156pUBNKe Kal
AertoUpynoe yia pwtn @opd to 1903, ye v ovopaocia
«KdvBapocy. To 1906, petovoudotnke oe «Noookopeio
Euhoyidvtwvy, pe otdxo T voonhAeia Kal avtPETMon
Twv SIaPKWG auEavopévwy KPOUOPdTwy euloyIdg TG
enoxnc. Puoikd, oto voookopeio voonAedovtav kal dAMa
miepiotatikd Aoigwdwv véowv. To VOoOoKOWED KUoHEVO
o€ anépakpn oxetkd mepioxr} amd v ABriva, mpoog-
(PEPE ONMAVTIKEG UMNPEDiEG, voonhedovtag aoBeveic e
AoIH®ON voorjuata, TTou ATav amokAEIGHEVO! KOIVWVIKA.
Katd wn dexaetia tou 1930, voonheltnkav aoBeveic pe
N véoo tou Xdvoev (Aémpa) kai otn didpkeia g dexae-
tiag tou 1950 aoBeveig pe pnviyyitda, mou ixe TPOOAd-
Bel xapaktipa emoénpiac. To 1970, to voookopeio pe-
Tovopdotnke og «Anudaoio Noookopeio Aoipwdwv No-
owvy, evw orpepa ovopdletar «levikd Noookopeio Au-
ukAg Atukrc “H Ayia BapBdpa™» (EINATT, 2005).

KAvikr «Evwoewg EAAvidwv»

H «Evwoig EMnvidwv» ou r1dn diabétel Ekmaideutikd
Turua, 16pUel to 1897 to Tprpa «Noonheiag kar Yyier-
VAG». ZKOTIOf TOU TUMHATOG AmoTEAOUV «n HOPPWOIG YU-
VAIKOV OAWV TV KOVWVIKWOV TEEEWV 1G VOOOKOHWY, N
814800I¢ Kal N epappoyr Twv SPWV VYIEVIG HETAEU Twv
Adikav taEewv, n dwpedv eEgtaoic kal Beparmeia eEwte-
PIKWV acBevv... kal n IdPUOIC Kal ouVTAPNOIG KAIVIKWV
81d yuvaikag kar maidid, évBa mdoa yuvr| va ddvatal va
Txn Beparmeiag mapd povwy yuvakov 1atpovy. ‘Etor n
«Evwoig EMnvidwv» 16pUer to 1903, kovtd otny [MUAn
Tou Adpiavoy, pikpr KAIVIKA, TTou amoteAeftal amd yuvai-
KoAoyIko, Taidiatpikd kar opBomedikd Tpripa Kai mou os

B ) e s -
Eik. 4: Noookopeio «>wtnpia» (1905-1908). Mnyr: ELNLATTL Ta
dnudoia voookopeia oty ABriva kai tov [Meipaid. Mopeia oto
xpdvo. Exddoeig EILN.AT, 2005.

Fig. 4: Hospital “Sotiria” (1905-1908). Source: EL.N.A.P. The public
hospitals of Athens and Piraeus. A course in time. EL.N.A.P. Pub.
EIN.AP., 2005.

tries. The private sector, however, has been actively in-
volved in dealing with tuberculosis. An important impe-
tus for solving the problem came from the st Panhel-
lenic Medical Congress, which took place in Athens in
May 1901. Following several medical papers on the large
extent the disease had received, the conference unani-
mously decided to create a “Panhellenic Association
against Tuberculosis". Sophie Schliemann, after a visit to
the hospital in “Elpis”, where under adverse conditions
tuberculous patients were hospitalized, found the need
to create a sanatorium. She acted immediately. In May
1902 she created a “Group of Ladies”, which founded
an Association named "Sotiria". On May 28, 1902, the
Statute of the Association entitled “Sanatorium Sotiria”
was approved by a Royal Decree (RD.). After research,
the site for the construction of the sanatorium was
found in the Goudi area. The plot met the contempo-
rary conditions for the creation of a sanatorium, since it
was sheltered from the northern and eastern winds, it
was exposed to the sun for as long as possible, it was
outside the city of Athens but not far from it, it was far
from dust , smoke, fog, marshes, etc. and was also close
to a forest, not very dense but rich in coniferous trees.
The plot was granted by the Petraki Monastery. On No-
vember 7, 1902, a RD. was isuued, which allowed the
establishment of a "Phthisis hospital” with expenses of
the Association. The foundation stone was laid in 1903,
in the presence of Queen Olga. The inauguration of the
hospital's first pavilion, built at Sofia Schliemann's ex-
pense, took place in 1905, when the hospital, which had
40 beds, started operating (Fig. 4). From 1905 until
1915, six pavilions and the administrative building or the
“Managerial building” were built with expenses of indi-
viduals. The stands were addressed to various income
social classes of people. In 1915, the hospital was
strengthened by two donations and the Petraki
Monastery granted a new land of 215 acres in exchange
for five beds for hospitalization of poor patients. In 1918,
the number of beds was 250. The number of hospital-
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Eik. 5: Noookopeio «Avdpéag Zuyypdey (1908). Mnyry: ELNATL
Ta &npdaia voookopeia oty Abriva kai tov [Meipaid. Mopeia oto
xpovo. Exddoeig ELN.AIM, 2005.

Fig. 5: Hospital “Andreas Syngros” (1908). Source: ELN.AP. The
public hospitals of Athens and Piraeus. A course in time. ELNLAP.
Pub. ELN.APP., 2005.

Tepimwon avdykng Oa propouoe va mepIAdBel kai Ta-
BoAoyIko THARA. STV KAVIKA NG «Evidoewg EMnvidwvy»
mpoori\av kai é\aBav Bepareia to 1903, 640 acbeveig
yuvaikeg kar maidid, to 1904, 700 kar to 1905, 692. H
KAIVIKY) Xpnoipeuoe kal wg «Ppoviiotiplo luvaikoho-
yiacy» yia v exmaideuon paiwv (Kopaoidou, 2002).

O¢gpaneutipio «IToAukAIVIKI»

15pUBNKe otv ABriva to 1903 amnd toug Kepahoviteg
1atpoUs NikéAao kar Avopéa ANPICETo, apxikd yia Ta-
poxr| TPwToPdbuiag povtidag otnv 086 ZwKPAToug
56. 2tn ouvéxeia Aertolpynoe wq voookopeio amd to
1905, petd v petapopd tou oe PeydAo KIrjplo otnv
086 lMeipaing 3. AigBete 50 voonAeUTIKEG KAVEG, 2KOTTOG
G dnuioupyiag tou rjtav o aoBevrig va elpioke €1dIKO
IaTEd yia v kGO Tdbnon, aMd oto kataotatikd tou
Bepameutnpiou avagépetal ot «Ba mapéxetal dwpedv
1atikr TepiBalyn kar Swpedv pdpparka otoug acBevelq
ave€aptitwg eOvikdtntog Kal Bpnokelpatocy. [Npooe-
M@Onoav kal ekmaidedtnkay, wg adeApeG VOOOKOHEG
30 povaxég and didgpopeg Meplox€g TG EAMdAdog, ol
ortoieg OMw¢ kal to Bepameutripio TPOCEPEPAV ONpav-
TIKEG UTINPEODTEG KATd TN SIAPKEID TwV PAAKAVIKOV TTOAE-
pwv (EINATT, 2005).

Aiyivijtelo

Ta voookopeio Bepehikbnke to 1900, 16pU0Nke pe Ba-
olhkd Aidtaypa otg 19 louhiou 1904, eykavidotnke kai
dpxioe ) Aertoupyia tou otig |3 Maptiou 1905. Ta xprj-
pata mporABav amd to kKAnpoddtnua tou kabnyntr INa-
Boloyikrg Avatopiag tou Mavermotnuiou ABnvav Alo-
vuoiou Aiyivtn (1821-1884), ta omoia Siaxeipiotnke
EMTPOTTF amotehoUpevn and Toug kabnyntég 2. Mayyiva,
. Zwxi6 kai M. Katoapd. To voookopeio and v idpuor
TOU, OTEYAOE TV €56pa Kal TV KAVIKH Twv «NEUPIK®V Kal
Ppevikav (Wuxikav) Noonpdtwvy tg latpikig 2xoAng
Tou [Mavermotnpiou ABnvawv. Apxikd, SigBete 24 kAiveg,
0 1911, 96 Khiveg, TTou to 1938 épBacav TG | 12 khiveg
(Kopaoidou, 2002, EINATT, 2005).
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ized patients in 1905 was 162, while in 1918, 604 pa-
tients. But mortality varied around 50% or more. Of
course, most patients visited the sanatorium when they
were at the advanced or final stage of the disease. In
1919, the administration of the hospital has come to
pass to the state, which was already involved in the fi-
nancing of the institution with regular annual aid (Katis,
1984, Vladimiros and Fragkidis, 2002, E.LN.A.P., 2005).

“Saint Varvara” Hospital

This hospital in Western Attica was founded and oper-
ated for the first time in 1903, under the name “Kan-
tharos”. In 1906, it was renamed to “Smallpox Hospital”,
aiming at the hospitalization and treatment of the ever-
growing smallpox cases of the time. Certainly, other
cases of infectious diseases were hospitalized. The hos-
pital, built in a relatively remote area of Athens, provided
important services, hospitalizing patients with infectious
diseases that were socially excluded. In the 1930s, pa-
tients with Hansen's disease (leprosy) were hospitalized,
and during the 1950s patients with meningitis (an epi-
demic of the time) also. In 1970, the hospital was re-
named to “Public Hospital of Infectious Diseases”, and
today it is called «General Hospital of Western Attica
“Saint Varvara™» (ELN.A.P,, 2005).

Clinic of the “Union of Greek women”

The “Union of Greek women", which already had an
Educational Department, forms in 1897 a new Depart-
ment of “Nursing and Hygiene". The aims of the depart-
ment are “the education of women of all social classes
as nurses, the dissemination and application of hygiene
conditions among the popular classes, the free exami-
nation and treatment of outpatients... and the estab-
lishment and maintenance of clinics for women and chil-
dren, where all women can be given the chance to re-
ceive treatment from only female doctors. Thus, in
1903, the “Union of Greek women” founded a small
clinic, consisting of a gynecological, a pediatric and an
orthopedic department, which in case of need could in-
clude an internal medicine department. At the Clinic of
the “Union of Greek women”, received treatment, in
1903, 640 patients and children, in 1904, 700 and in
1905, 692. The Clinic also served as a “Gynecology Tu-
torial” for the training of midwives (Korasidou, 2002).

Hospital “Polyclinic”

[t was founded at 56, Socratous Street in Athens in
1903, by the Cephalonian physicians Nikolaos and An-
dreas Alivizatos, initially for primary care. It then oper-
ated as a hospital since 1905, after its transfer to a large
building at 3, Piraeus Street in Athens. There were 50
nursing beds. The purpose of the establishment was to
offer the ability to patients to find a special doctor for
every disease, but the statute of the hospital stated that
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Noookopeio «Avopéag Zuyypooy

To deppatoroyikd voookopeio ovoudotnke dpXIkd
«Oegpamneutiipiov twv KoMntikwy Noonpdtwvy kai otn
ouvéxela «Noookopeio twv Agpodiciwv Mabdvy
(1884-1885). Eykataotdbnke diadoxikd oe Sidpopa
KTApIa, apxikd Kovtd otn [aMikr 2xoAr, arm’ émou pe-
TeykataotdBnke tpeig akdpa opes. O Avdpéag 2uy-
YPOG petd amd emiokeyr] Tou, IAMOTWOE TIG TTOAU KAKES
ouvBrKkeg Asitoupyiag Tou kal amo@dcoioe va XpnUato-
dotrioel TNV avéyepon voooKkopeiou yia Ta Seppatikd
kal ta appodioia voorjpata. Exktdg amd v apxikr xpn-
patoddtnon, pe tn S1abrjkn tou denoe to 1899, éva eri-
ONG ONHAVIKS XPNHATIKO TTOod TIPOG AVEYEQGH TOU VO-
ookopeiou. H Movr lNetpdkn dwpioe oto Anpdaoio to
olkémedo 1o 1907 kai to 1909 1dpletar pe vépo, vooo-
Kopeio appodioiwy voonudtwy utd Tty enwvupia «No-
ookopeiov Avdpéa ZuyypoUy. H évapgn Asrtoupyiag
Tou éyive otig 4 lavouapiou 1910, kataokeudotnke €&
olokAipou amd meviehikd pdppapo, OewpriOnke de T6-
Te WG TO apudTePo otov kdopo (Eik. 5). 2komd eixe T
Swpedv voonheia anmdpwv MAoXOVIwy Kal TV TTEAKTIKT
doknon Twv QOITNTWV TNG IATEIKAG KAl TG 0dovTiatpl-
KG oxoAAG. Apxikd Si€Bete 300 yuvaikeleg kar 100 av-
SpIKEG Khiveg. Meta&l 1910-1914, oto «Avdpéag Suy-
ypoc» voonAeutnkav |6.177 aoBeveic, and toug ormoi-
oug ol 6.676 ritav cugihidikol (Kopaoidou, 2002, El-
NATT, 2005).

Yavatépio MNdpvnBag

To Zavatépio g INdpvndag 1) «Noookopeio Mewpyiou
>tatpou kal [ewpyiou Pouyky, AertolUpynoe wg avipu-
patkd Bepameutriplo Tou voookopeiou «EuayyeNopdey.
Ta xpripata diatébnkav pe tn S1abikn tou 1898, tng
®avapéng EpPept, euepyéudac tou «Euayyehiopous,
ouClyou tou I. Douyk kai aviidg tou 15putr g EBvikAg
Tpdmelag I >tatpou. To 1912, apxiCel n kataokeun
evég podxelpou EUAIVou voookopeiou. To opeivd avt-
PUUATIKS TIEPITTTEPO-0avVaTOPIO eYKAIVIAOTNKE TTApouaia
¢ Baoihooag ‘OAyac kar dpxioe ) Aertoupyia Tou otiq
9 Auyouotou 914, AigBete 14 khiveg. To 1927, ol ey-
KaTaotdoelg enektdOnkav, alMd to 1934 Bepehidveral
VEO oUyxpovo KTHpIo, TTou dPXIoE TN Asrtoupyid Tou o
1935. To oavatdpio otapdinoe I Aertoupyia Tou o
1960 (Anpomouhou kai ouv. 201 3).

Noookopeio «H Ayia EAévn»

15pUBNnke petd amd mpwtoBoulia IBIWTWY TTou GuvéoTn-
oav 1o eIAavBpwkd cwuateio «Ayia EAévny kar ouvé-
Ae&Eav xopnyfeq. Meta&l twv peAdv Tou owpdteiou ftav
n AouiCa PiavkoUp kai n Bipyivia Mmevaxn. To oikémedo
napaxwprBnke and tn Mntpdmoin ABnvwv. To vooo-
Kopeio dpxioe va Aertoupvel To 1916. Mpwtog Mpd-
ed6pog Tou AloiknuikoU oupBouiiou rjitav o Mntporohi-
NG ABnvav OedirAntog. To 1938 yivetar amodextr| dw-
ped tou Xap. 2MAIGTIOUAOU Kal TO VOOOKOWEIO HETO-

PdAAn I. kai auv./Ralli I. et al.

“free medical care and free medicines will be provided
to patients regardless of nationality and religion”. As
nurses, 30 nuns from different regions of Greece were
hired and trained, who, as well as the hospital, provided
important services during the Balkan wars (EL.N.A.P.,
2005).

“Aeginitio” Hospital

The hospital was established in 1900, founded by a
Royal Decree on July 19, 1904, and was inaugurated and
commenced its operation on March |3, 1905. The
money came from the bequest of Professor of Pathol-
ogy at the University of Athens Dionyssios Aeginitis
(1821-1884), which was managed by a Committee con-
sisted of the Professors S. Magkinas, I. Zochios and M.
Katsaras. Since its establishment, the hospital has housed
the Clinic for the “Nervous and Phrenic (Mental) Dis-
eases” of the Medical School of the University of
Athens. Initially, it had 24 beds, in 1911, 96 beds, which
in 1938 reached |12 beds (Korasidou, 2002, ELN.AP.,
2005).

“Andreas Syngros” Hospital

The dermatological hospital was originally named the
“Infirmary for the Transmitted Diseases” and then “Hos-
pital of Sexually Transmitted Passions” (1884-1885). It
was installed successively in various buildings, initially
near the French School, from where it was relocated
three more times. Andreas Syngros, after a visit, found
out the very poor operating conditions and decided to
finance the construction of a hospital for cutaneous and
sexually transmitted diseases. In addition to his initial
funding, he has also donated a considerable amount of
money through his will in 1899, for the construction of
the hospital. The Petraki Monastery donated the land to
the State in 1907 and in 1909 the hospital for the sex-
ually transmitted diseases was founded by law, under
the name "“Andreas Syngros Hospital”. It started its op-
eration on January 4, 1910, was made entirely of Pentelic
marble, and was then considered the finest in the world
(Fig. 5). The aim was to provide free hospitalization to
deprived patients and the practical training of students
of medical and dental school. Initially, it had 300 female
and 100 male beds. Between 1910-1914, 16,177 pa-
tients were hospitalized in “Andreas Syngros”, of whom
6,676 suffered from syphilis (Korasidou, 2002, EL.N.AP.,
2005).

Sanatorium of Parnitha

The Sanatorium of Parnitha or “Georgios Stavrou and
Georgios Foug Hospital”, operated as the anti-tubercu-
lous sanatorium of the “Evangelismos” hospital. The
money was donated by the 1898 will of Fenareti Ervert,
a benefactor of “Evangelismos”, husband of G. Foug and
a niece of the founder of the National Bank of Greece
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vopdletarl og 2mnAiorrouieio Noaookopeio «H Ayia EAé-
v (EINATT, 2005).

Noookopeio «AckAnmieio BoUAag»

16pUbNKe pe MpwtoBoulia Tou EMnvikou Epubpot 2tau-
pou (EE2). H Mntpdmohn ABnvav kai n Movi MNetpd-
KN yIa TO OKOTI® QUTO, TTPOTEPEPAV TIEUKOPUTO, TIApd-
Bahdooio oikdmedo otnv epioxr] NG Bouhag. H évapén
Aertoupyiag tou éyive Tov loUhio Tou 1920. Avartixon-
Kav Tpia mapanmyuata. Ta duo dietéBnoav yia tn voon-
Aefa maididv, ayopidv Kar Kopraiwy, NAIKiag 5-14 etay,
TIOU €maoxav and KAEIoTr QUUATILON KAl TO TEITO YIa T
dlapovr] Tou TPOCWTIKOU TOU VOOOKOEIOU KAl yIa TIG
utpeoieg tou 15pupatog. Or Bpetavoi mou amoxwpou-
oav tote and tn Makedovia, mapaxwpnoav ta tpia ma-
parmypata, o &e Bpetavikdg Epubpdc Staupdc mpoaoé-
oepe 400 kifwtia uyelovopikol uhikou. Apxikd, o «lla-
veMAVIOG 2 Uvdeapog katd tng PuuaTnoews» avérafe
N dioiknon kai tg damdveg, mou dpwg mapeddbnoav
otov EEZ. 1o 1923, Ta dUo mpwta €t tng Aertoupyiag
TOU, TO VOOOKOWEelo voarAeuoe 95 maidid mou €maoxav
ané eupatiwon (EINATT, 2005).

2YMIMEPAXMATA

Katd yeviki opoAoyia, ta mepioodtepa voookopeia ta
ormofa 16pUBnkav otnv ABrjva katd tn didpkeia g Te-
p16dou 1870-1920, éyivav pe mpwtoPoulia kal xprigata
TIoU TIPOCEQEPE N IBIWTIKA TPwToPoulia. To kpdtog, ol-
Kovopikd adlvapo Kuping AOyw Twv TTOAEHWY Kal Twv
mwxeloewy, oAyov cuveicépepe. Emiong kakr rAtav n
katdotaon g dnudoiag uyeiag kar to enfmedo diapiw-
ong. H dnpioupyia toug Aoimdv ouveloépepe ta mAeiota
otoug ABnvaioug ToAfteg, d1dT €dwoe T duvatdtnta
QVTIHETOTONG KUPIWG Twv ouxvav diadedopévwv aobe-
VEIQV Kal EMONUIOV TNG eMoxAG, KaBWG Kal Twv TTOMOV
TPAUPATIWV TTOAE[OU.
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G. Stavrou. In 1912, the construction of a wooden hos-
pital has started. The mountain sanatorium for patients
with tuberculosis was inaugurated in the presence of
Queen Olga and commenced its operation on 9 August
[914. It had 14 beds. In 1927, the facilities were ex-
panded, but in 1934 a new modern building was estab-
lished, which began operating in 1935. The sanatorium
ceased its operation in 1960 (Dimopoulou et al,, 2013).

“Saint Eleni” Hospital

[t was founded on the initiative of some individuals who
set up the charity association “Saint Eleni"” and collected
sponsorships. Among the members of the association
were Louise Riancourt and Virginia Benaki. The plot was
granted by the Greek Orthodox Metropolis of Athens.
The hospital started operating in 1916. The first Chair-
man of the Board was the Archbishop of Athens Theok-
litos. In 1938, H. Spiliopoulos’s donation was accepted
and the hospital was renamed to Spiliopoulio Hospital
“Saint Eleni” (ELN.A.P, 2005).

Hospital “Asklepion Voulas”

[t was founded on the initiative of the Hellenic Red
Cross (HRC). For this purpose, the Greek Orthodox
Metropolis of Athens and the Petraki Monastery offered
a pine-covered seaside plot, in the area of Voula. It
started its operation in July 1920. Three lodges were in-
dustrialized. The two were made available for the hos-
pitalization of children, boys and girls aged 5-14, suffering
from closed tuberculosis and the third one for the ac-
commodation of hospital staff and the institution's serv-
ices. The British, who at the time were leaving Macedo-
nia, donated the three lodges, and the British Red Cross
offered 400 boxes of sanitary material. Initially, the “Pan-
Hellenic Anti-Tuberculosis Association” undertook the
management and the expenses, but in 1923, they were
handed over to the HRC. During the first two years of
its operation the hospital has hospitalized 95 children
suffering from tuberculosis (E.LN.A.P., 2005).

CONCLUSIONS

Undoubtedly, most hospitals that were established in
Athens during the 1870-1920 period, were constructed
and financed thanks to the private initiative. The State,
financially weak, mainly due to wars and bankruptcies,
contributed a little. The state of public health and the
standard of living were also very poor at that time. The
establishment of the hospitals contributed most to the
Athenian citizens, because it provided the opportunity
to deal mainly with the widespread diseases and epi-
demics, as well as with the numerous wounded warriors
of that period of time.
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